IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 64,307

HARRY DEAN HUDDLESTON,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

FILED SID J. WHITE

FEB 16 1984

CLERK SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clark

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAWRENCE BESSER
Special Assistant Public Defender
SAMEK & BESSER
Attorneys at Law
1925 Brickell Avenue
Suite D-207
Miami, Florida 33129
305-856-0444

Attorney for Appellant

INTRODUCTION

The Appellant, HARRY HUDDLESTON, was the Defendant in the Court below. The Appellee, THE STATE OF FLORIDA, was the Prosecution in the Court below. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they stood before the lower court. The symbol "R." will be used to designate the Record on Appeal. All emphasis is added unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 2nd, 1983, an indictment was filed charging the Defendant with First Degree Murder and Armed Robbery. (R. 1-2a).

A jury trial was held on June 27th to 29th, 1983, before the Honorable Arthur I. Snyder, Judge of the Circuit Court(Criminal Division) of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit in and for Dade County, Florida. (R. 3-17). On June 29th, 1983, the Defendant was adjudicated guilty as charged as to both counts of the indictment. (R. 109-112).

On June 30th, 1983, the jury rendered an advisory sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for twenty-five years as to the first count of the indictment. (R. 118).

On July 7th, 1983, the trial court Judge rejected the jury's advisory sentence and sentenced the Defendant to death by electrocution as to the first count of the indictment, with a concurrent life sentence as to the second count of the indictment. (R. 119-125).

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The first witness for the prosecution at the Defendant's trial was United States Air Force Master Sergeant Manuel Powell. Sergeant Powell testified that in addition to his duties as a Master Sergeant, he was the Assistant Night Manager at the Homestead Air Force Base Non-Commissioned Officers Club. (R. 436). Part of Sergeant Powell's duties in this regard was dispensing the paychecks of the employees. (R. 438). Prior to February 4th, 1983, the Defendant was an employee at the club. (R. 437).

Sergeant Powell testified that in the early morning hours of February 5th, 1983, at approximately 1:00 A. M., the Defendant came by the club to pick up his paycheck. (R. 438). After he gave the Defendant his paycheck Sergeant Powell saw the Defendant go to the gameroom of the club. (R. 444). Sergeant Powell left the club at approximately 3:00 A. M. The Defendant left at the same time. Sergeant Powell walked to his car, and saw the Defendant walk to his bicycle. (R. 447).

James Westbrooks, the club manager, was the second witness for the prosecution. Mr. Westbrooks testified that the Defendant had been employed at the club for approximately one year. (R. 450). On the evening of February 4th, 1983, Mr. Westbrooks was off duty and at the club as a patron only. He did not see the Defendant. (R. 451).

The following morning Mr. Westbrooks arrived for work at the club at approximately 7:10 A. M. (R. 453). He saw that the cashier's door and safe were open. (R. 453). Mr. Westbrooks went to the rear of the club and discovered the body of Dawn Perkins, the general cashier, on the floor

of the ladies room. He immediately called the police. (R. 465).

Bradley Jansen, a security policeman at the Homestead Air Force Base testified that on the previous evening, he had let the Defendant on the base through the West gate at approximately midnight. (R. 468). The Defendant had a civilian employee identification card. (R.468). While doing a routine building patrol with another officer at approximately 4:00 A. M., Officer Jansen observed the Defendant sleeping in the corner of an unfinished building next to the club. (R. 478). When Officer Jansen awoke the Defendant, the Defendant told him that he was sleeping there because he had nowhere else to go. (R. 481). Officer Jansen took the Defendant and his bicycle to the patrol office. (R. 482). At approximately 5:30 A. M. he escorted the Defendant off the base through the north gate. (R. 483).

The prosecution's next witness, Sergeant William McCormick, the night chief of the Security Police, testified that he questioned the Defendant at the patrol office at approximately 4:00 A. M. (R. 489). The Defendant told him that he had come to the club to pick up his paycheck. (R. 491). Later, he had no place to stay so he had gone to sleep in a shed behind the club. (R. 492). When Sergeant McCormick found out the Defendant was no longer employed at the base, he took the Defendant's civilian identification card and had the Defendant escorted off the base. (R. 492). Later, Sergeant McCormick was called to the club by Mr. Westbrooks. When he saw the victim in the ladies room he ordered all gates to the base closed. (R. 495).

Sergeant Carl Baaske of the Metro-Dade Public Safety Department testified that he responded to the club shortly after 8:00 A. M. and immediately secured the area. (R. 501). When the homicide detectives arrived they

gave Sergeant Baaske the Defendant's name and address as a person who had earlier been seen in the area. (R. 503). Sergeant Baaske responded to the Defendant's address, approximately four to five miles from the base. (R. 504). The Defendant agreed to accompany Sergeant Baaske back to the base, at which point he was read his Miranda rights. According to Sergeant Baaske, the Defendant appeared to be wet and was shaking. The Defendant took his jacket back with him to the base. (R. 509). Sergeant Baaske had security guards posted at the Defendant's residence. (R. 510).

Detective Rafael Nazario interviewed the Defendant upon the Defendant's return to the base. (R. 689). Detective Nazario noticed blood on the Defendant's jacket. (R. 689). The Defendant was again read his Miranda rights, whereupon he told Detective Nazario that he had come to the base to pick up his paycheck and had gone to sleep in the shed next to the club because he had nowhere else to go. (R. 695). When Detective Nazario confronted the Defendant with the fact that there was blood on his coat and "point blank asked him did he kill the victim", the Defendant replied "Yes, Sir." (R. 703). According to Detective Nazario, the Defendant told him he needed the money because his girlfriend was pregnant, and he wanted to marry her. (R. 703).

The Defendant was arrested, and proceeded to tell Detective Nazario all of the details of the crime. $\frac{1}{}$ The Defendant took Detective Nazario

^{1/}

The Defendant's description of the actual crime was consistent with the medical examiner's testimony that the cause of death was a combination of three types of wounds: 1) Blunt trauma; 2) Strangulation; and 3) Stab Wounds. (R. 642).

back to his residence. There, the Defendant showed Detective Nazario where the money from the robbery was located as well as the clothing he wore during the attack. (R. 717). Additionally, the Defendant later returned to the base with Detective Nazario and showed him the path he took from the base after the crime and where he had disposed of one of the murder weapons (a knife) and other evidence. (R. 720).2/ Later, at approximately 3:35 P. M., the Defendant returned with Detective Nazario to the Homicide office where he gave a full formal statement to him. (R. 722). According to the testimony of Detective Nazario, the formal statement he took from the Defendant is the best record of the version of events that the Defendant related to him. (R. 760).

^{2/}

All of the physical evidence introduced against the Defendant at trial, including the money, clothing, one of the murder weapons, sketches of both murder weapons, the victims keys, and blood and hair comparisons, was obtained as the direct result of the Defendant's cooperation with Detective Nazario.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OVERRIDING THE JURY'S RECOMMENDATION OF LIFE
 IMPRISONMENT AND SENTENCING THE DEFENDANT
 TO DEATH WHERE A) THE TRIAL COURT MISAPPLIED ONE OF THE STATUTORY AGGRAVATING
 FACTORS; B) FAILED TO TAKE INTO CONSIDERATION ANY OF THE NUMEROUS NON-STATUTORY
 MITIGATING FACTORS PRESENTED BY THE DEFENDANT; AND C) FAILED TO UTILIZE THE
 PROPER LEGAL STANDARD FOR OVERRIDING THE
 JURY'S RECOMMENDATION OF LIFE IMPROSONMENT.
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S PRE-TRIAL MOTION TO STRIKE THE PETIT JURY VENIRE, OR, ALTERNATIVELY, TO AFFORD THE DEFENDANT AN OPPORTUNITY TO PRE-SENT EVIDENCE TO SUBSTANTIATE HIS CONSTITUTIONAL CLAIM THAT THE JURY SELECTION PROCESS OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA DOES NOT COMPORT WITH DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION OF LAW.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OVERRIDING
 THE JURY'S RECOMMENDATION OF LIFE
 IMPRISONMENT AND SENTENCING THE DEFENDANT TO DEATH WHERE A) THE TRIAL
 COURT MISAPPLIED ONE OF THE STATUTORY AGGRAVATING FACTORS; B) FAILED
 TO TAKE INTO CONSIDERATION ANY OF
 THE NUMEROUS NON-STATUTORY MITIGATING
 FACTORS PRESENTED BY THE DEFENDANT;
 AND C) FAILED TO UTILIZE THE PROPER
 LEGAL STANDARD FOR OVERRIDING THE
 JURY'S RECOMMENDATION OF LIFE IMPRISONMENT
- A. THE TRIAL COURT MISAPPLIED ONE OF THE STATUTORY AGGRAVATING FACTORS

In the instant case, in overriding the jury's recommendation of life imprisonment and sentencing the Defendant to death, the trial court judge found the presence of four statutory aggravating factors: 1) That the Defendant was previously convicted of a felony involving the use of, or threat of violence, to-wit: the armed robbery in count two of the indictment; 2) that the capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing an arrest; 3) that the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel; and 4) that the homicide was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (R. 120-122). The Defendant submits that this fourth aggravating factor was misapplied to the facts of this case.

In <u>Jent v. State</u>, 408 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 1981) this Court was faced with a due process challenge to this statutory aggravating factor based upon <u>Jent</u>'s argument that every person convicted of premeditated murder would start the sentencing proceeding with one aggravating circumstance already established. In rejecting <u>Jent</u>'s argument, this Court held that the proof of this aggravating circumstance requires a greater level of premed-

itation than the amount necessary for a conviction of First Degree Murder. As later stated by this Court in McCray v. State, 416 So.2d 804, 807 (Fla. 1982);

That aggravating circumstance ordinarily applies in those murders which are characterized as executions or contract murders, although that description is not intended to be all-inclusive.

Thus, in <u>McCray</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court held this aggravating factor to be inapplicable where the facts revealed that after robbing a van the Defendant encountered the van's owner, yelled "this is for you, mother-fucker", and shot him three times in the abdomen.

Similarly, in Mann v. State, 420 So.2d 578 (Fla. 1982), this Court, citing Jent, supra, found this aggravating factor to have been misapplied where the ten year old victim was abducted on her way to school and was later found dead from a skull fracture and with stab wounds.

In the instant case, the trial court's written sentencing order refers to no facts which would support it's bare legal conclusion that this aggravating factor was present. To the contrary, the prosecution's own evidence, although sufficient during the guilt phase to prove premeditation, belies this greater level of premeditation as required by <u>Jent</u>, e.g. an execution or contract murder. Initially, it must be remembered that the uncontradicted testimony of the prosecution's own witnesses revealed that when only a few hours before the homicide the Defendant was discovered in the shed behind the Non-Commissioned Officers Club, rather than "lying in wait" for his victim, as the prosecution theorized, the Defendant was asleep. Thus, the lateness of the hour, combined with the Defendant's drinking the previous evening, make it quite possible that had the Defendant not been awoken by Officer's Jansen and McCormick, no robbery or homicide would have

occured the following morning. (R. 478). In any event, when awoken, the Defendant told both Officers' Jansen and McCormick that he was asleep in the shed only "because he had nowhere else to go", (R. 481), an explanation he later repeated to Detective Nazario both orally and in his formal statement. (R.102, 695). In fact, in his formal statement to Detective Nazario, which, as admitted by Detective Nazario remains the best record of the version of events that the Defendant related to him, (R. 760), the Defendant stated that even though he had planned to steal money from the club prior to that evening, it was not until <u>after</u> he was inside the club that he planned to hurt the victim. (R. 96,98). Indeed, when asked by Detective Nazario "why did you kill Dawn", the Defendant gave the following response:

I really don't know why. It seemed like I just blacked out -- well, not blacked out, but something. I can't really explain it. (R. 100).

Certainly then, this case is readily distinguishable from those cases in which this Court has found that the homicide was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. See, e.g., Hill v. State, 422 So.2d 816 (Fla. 1982), where this Court found the homicide to have been cold, calculated and premeditated, where the Defendant made the decision to rape and murder the victim "substantially before" the time that he picked her up; and Bolender v. State, 422 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1982), where this aggravating circumstance was properly applied where the Defendants' engaged in a course of robbery, torture, kidnapping and murder to get their drug dealing victims to reveal the location of their cocaine.

Accordingly, the trial court judge's bare legal conclusion herein that this aggravating factor is applicable, supported by neither facts nor law, must be reversed.

B. THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO TAKE INTO CONSIDERATION ANY OF THE NUMEROUS NON-STATUTORY MITIGATING FACTORS PRESENTED BY THE DEFENDANT

In <u>Songer v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1978), on re-hearing, this Court held that Florida's Death Penalty Statute does <u>not</u> limit mitigating factors to those enumerated in the Statute. Nonetheless, in the instant case, despite the Defendant's presentation of substantial nonstatutory mitigating evidence in his own behalf during the sentencing phase of his trial, the trial court judge made no reference to this evidence at all in his sentencing order. Instead, the trial court merely found the existence of one mitigating factor: the Defendant had no significant history of prior criminal activity. (R. 122). And, despite the importance of this mitigating factor 3/, the trial court overrode the jury's recomendation of life imprisonment and sentenced the Defendant to death. Clearly, the trial court's action in failing to even consider any non-statutory mitigating evidence was error. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Welty v. State</u>, 402 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 1981); Jacobs v. State, 396 So.2d 716 (Fla. 1981).

The Defendant submits that there were at least six areas of non-statutory mitigating factors presented to the jury upon which they could have based their recommendation of life imprisonment which were ignored by the trial court judge in his sentencing order: 1) the Defendant's exemplary employment background; 2) the Defendant's remorse; 3) the Defendant's willingness to accept responsibility for his actions; 4) the Defendant's cooperation with law enforcement officials; 5) the Defendant's history of drug abuse; and 6) the Defendant's personal and family situation. Taking

<u>3</u>/

See Taylor v. State, 294 So.2d 648 (Fla. 1974), wherein this Court gave italicized emphasis to this mitigating factor.

each of these areas separately the testimony presented to the jury reveals the following:

1. The Defendant's Past Employment

The Defendant's unrebutted testimony at the sentencing hearing revealed that while he was in high school he lived on the Charleston Air Force Base in South Carolina. 912). When the Defendant's father got (R. stationed overseas the Defendant remained in South Carolina and began working for the government. (R. 913). Subsequently, the Defendant left South Carolina and went to Oklahoma where he worked as an automotive engineer for two and a half years. (R. 913). When the Defendant's parents returned to the United States to Pope Air Force Base, the Defendant moved back with them and started working at the Non-Commissioned Officers Club there. (R. 913). After the Defendant's father was stationed overseas again, the Defendant, at the request of the manager of the Non-Commissioned Officers Club at the Homestead Air Force Base, moved to Florida where he began work at the club at the Homestead Air Force Base. (R. 913 Defendant remained employed there until the time immediately preceeding the instant case. (R. 437). Clearly, the Defendant's exemplary employment record is a proper non-statutory mitigating factor that could have been but was not considered by trial court judge. See McCampbell v. State, 421 So.2d 1072 (Fla. 1982).

2. The Defendant's Remorse

Throughout the course of these proceedings it was apparent that the Defendant had exhibited extreme remorse for his actions. This remorse was manifested in both the Defendant's immediately confessing to the crime to Detective Nazario, as well as the Defendant's testimony before the jury at the sentencing hearing. (R. 911-980). Certainly, if a Defendant's lack of

remorse may be considered as applicable to a consideration of whether or not the aggravating factor of "heinous, atrocious, and cruel" is present beyond a reasonable doubt, see Sireci v. State, 399 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1981), then the positive exhibition of remorse should be an applicable non-statutory mitigating factor to consider.

3. The Defendant's Willingness To Accept Responsibility For His Actions

In the instant case the Defendant testified at the sentencing hearing that he accepted the fact that he committed a homicide, and that he was willing to accept appropriate punishment for his actions. In fact, the record herein reveals that not only was the Defendant willing to plead guilty to these charges, but at no time were any motions filed to suppress either the Defendant's confession or any of the other physical evidence obtained from the Defendant or his residence. (R. 919-930).

In <u>Washington v.State</u>, 362 So.2d 658, 667 (Fla. 1975), this Court held that a Defendant's willingness to accept responsibility for his crime may, in an appropriate case, be considered as a non-statutory mitigating factor in evaluating the propriety of a death sentence. In <u>Washington</u>, this Court held that <u>Washington</u>'s willingness to accept responsibility for his crime was speculative in light of the fact that Washington only surrendered after his accomplices had been apprehended and he became the focus of suspicion. Here, unlike <u>Washington</u>, the Defendant fully confessed to Detective Nazario upon his first being asked if he committed the crime and before the police could establish the Defendant's guilt through any accomplices. In fact, it was only <u>after</u> the Defendant accepted responsibility for his actions, confessed to Detective Nazario and allowed his residence to be searched, that the police were able to put together a case against him.

4. The Defendant's Cooperation With Law Enforcement Officials

As previously mentioned in the Statement of the Facts portion of this brief, the Defendant fully cooperated with all law enforcement officials involved in this case. All of the physical evidence introduced against the Defendant at trial was obtained as a direct result of the Defendant's cooperation with Detective Nazario, including the money, clothing, one of the murder weapons, sketches of both murder weapons, the victim's keys, blood and hair samples, and the Defendant's transcribed confession. All of these facts were clearly placed before the jury for it's consideration. Any objective review of the record makes clear that the jury could have been influenced in it's recommendation for life imprisonment by the Defendant's cooperation and that it too is a non-statutory mitigating factor that should have been addressed by the trial court judge in his sentencing order.

5. The Defendant's History Of Drug Abuse

The jury heard testimony from the Defendant that he had been using all kinds of drugs since the age of twelve, and the night prior to the homicide he had consumed both marijuana and LSD. (R. 917). Although the Defendant testified that he was not offering his drug use as an excuse for his actions, nor as an attempt to justify what he had done, it was a possible explanation for the fact that during the actual homicide he found himself unable to either stop or control his actions. (R. 925,927). This testimony was consistent with the Defendant's statement to Detective Nazario the day of his arrest that at the time of the homicide "it seemed like I just blacked out". (R. 100). Again, the jury could have been influenced by this testimony and considered it a mitigating factor at arriving at it's advisory sentence of life imprisonment. See, e.g., Norris v. State, 429 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1983).

6. The Defendant's Personal And Family Situation

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