IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 64,307

FILED SID J. WHITE

MAR 29 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

HARRY DEAN HUDDLESTON,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

G. BART BILLBROUGH Assistant Attorney General Ruth Bryan Owen Rohde Building Florida Regional Service Center 401 N.W. 2nd Avenue (Suite 820) Miami, Florida 33128 (305) 377-5441

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

ARGUMENT

Ι

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN SENTENCING THE APPELLANT TO DEATH WERE THE COURT PROPERLY FOUND FOUR AGGRAVATING FACTORS, CONSIDERED ALL EVIDENCE PRESENTED IN MITIGATION, AND DETERMINED THAT THE AGGRAVATING FACTORS OVERWHELMINGLY OUTWEIGHED THE ONLY MITIGATING FACTOR OF APPELLANT'S LACK OF CRIMINAL HISTORY.

The Appellant argues that the trial court committed numerous errors during the sentencing phase of the Appellant's trial which mandate reduction of his sentence to life imprisonment. In particular, the Appellant suggests that the trial court improperly concluded that the homicide in the present case was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. The Appellant next suggests that the trial court failed to consider non-statutory mitigating factors during the penalty phase. Finally, the Appellant states that the trial court utilized an improper legal standard to override the jury's recomendation of life imprisonment. A review of each of these arguments reveals they are not supported by the record of this case and, as a result, the conviction and sentence should be upheld.

A. Proof of Section 921.141(5)(i), Fla. Stat.

Section 921.141(5)(i), Fla.Stat., provides as follows:

The capital felony was a homicide and was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

The legislature's addition of paragraph (i) to Section 921.141(5), Fla.Stat., only reiterates in part what is already an element of premeditated murder. Paragraph (i) adds nothing to the elements of the crimes charged but rather adds the limitation that the premeditation have been "cold, calculated and...without any pretense of moral or legal justification." Herring v. State, ___So.2d___, Case No. 61,994 (Fla. February 2, 1984)[9 FLW 49].

This court has often stated that the aggravating circumstance of Section 921.141(5)(i), Fla.Stat., should not be utilized in every premeditated murder prosecution. Although not intended to be all inconclusive, McCray v. State, 416 So.2d 804 (Fla. 1981); Combs v. State, 403 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 456 U.S. 984 (1982), it has been recognized that the factor traditionally applies to those murders which are characterized as execution, contract, or witness elimination murders. Herring v. State, supra. The evidence adduced at trial clearly supports the trial court's application of this factor.

Two days prior to the murder and robbery, the Appellant planned the crime. He informed Detective Nazario that he knew the victim would be present and that she would be alone. (R.706). Upon gaining entry into the NCO Club, the Appellant tricked the victim into entering the ladies room to observe an alleged flood. (R.96).

When the Appellant began his attack on the victim, the victim stated that she knew why he was there and that he wanted the money. Rather than simply rob the club, the appellant continued his attack by striking the woman with various blows to the head and upper body, as well as striking her over the head with a chair. When he found that strangulation was insufficient, he went to another room and obtained a steak knife. During the course of her stabbing, the victim asked why he was doing so since she was "already dead." Even after such statements, the Appellant stopped only to get a larger knife when the shorter one bent. (R.709-711).

The victim in the present case had been pleasant and nice to the Appellant during the course of his employment at the NCO Club. She had never antagonized him nor given the Appellant any reason to dislike her. (R.965). As in Middleton v. State, 426 So.2d 548 (Fla. 1982), the

shocking thing about the victim's murder is that the only thing the victim ever did to the Appellant, so far as the record indicates, was show him extraordinary kindness and generosity. Middleton v. State, supra, 426 So.2d at 553. The victim's reward was a coldly calculated termination of her life.

Citing Jent v. State, 408 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 1981), the Appellant suggests that the State's evidence was insufficient to show the cold, calculated premeditation necessary to support Section 921.141(5)(i), Fla.Stat. The Appellant states that his discovery during the early morning hours sleeping in the back shed area of the NCO Club, his explanation that he had nowhere else to go, and his subsequent statement that he did not plan to hurt the victim until he was inside the club negate premeditation. These self-serving statements, however, are belied by the Appellant's previous admission that he had planned the robbery two days prior to the murder and that he knew the victim would be present. The fact that his pre-murder statements are untruthful is best demonstrated by evidence that the Appellant had a residence a short distance from the NCO (R.947). Club.

The present case is similar to <u>Herring v. State</u>, _____ So.2d___, Case No. 61,994 (Fla. Feb. 2, 1984)[9 FLW 49].

In <u>Herring</u>, a convenience store clerk was presented with a holdup note from the defendant. When the clerk made a sudden movement, the appellant shot the clerk once in the head and once again after the clerk hit the floor. Affirming the appellant's conviction, this court found the proof sufficient to establish Section 921.141(5)(i), Fla.Stat.:

Appellant's fourth point was that the trial judge improperly found the aggravating circumstance that this murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. We have previously stated that this aggravating circumstance is not to be utilized in every premeditated murder prosecution. Rather, this aggravating circumstance applies in those murders which are characterized as execution or contract murders or witness/elimination murders. We have also held, however, that this description is not intended to be all inclusive. [Citations omitted]. In the instant case, the evidence does reflect that appellant shot the store clerk in response to what appellant believed was a threatening movement by the clerk and then shot him a second time after the clerk had fallen to the floor. The facts of this case are sufficient to show the heightened premeditation required for the application of this aggravating circumstance as it has been defined ...

Henning v. State, supra, at 9 FLW at 51.

See, also, Middleton v. State, 426 So.2d 548 (Fla. 1982);

<u>Hill v. State</u>, 422 So.2d 816 (Fla. 1982); <u>Combs v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981).

The evidence in the present case clearly was sufficient for the trial court to conclude that the Appellant planned the robbery in advance, knew the victim would be present, and decided that she would have to be killed because of her ability to identify him. Under such circumstances, the State would suggest that the "heightened premeditation" necessary to support Section 921.141(5)(i), Fla.Stat., was shown.

Assuming arguendo, that the trial court erred in finding paragraph (i) applicable, the death sentence should nonetheless be affirmed. When one or more of the aggravating circumstances are found, death is presumed to be the proper sentence unless it is overridden by one or more of the mitigating circumstances. State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1, 9 (Fla. 1973). Although one improper aggravating factor may have been included in the weighing process, "we can know" that the result of the weighing process would not have been different had the one impermissible factor not been considered. Bassett v. State, __So.2d___, Case No. 58,803 (Fla. March 8, 1984)[9 FLW 90]. As in Brown v. State, 381 So.2d 690 (Fla. 1980), cert. denied, 449 U.S. 1118 (1981), and Hargrave v. State, 366 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1978), cert.

<u>denied</u>, 444 U.S. 919 (1979), there are ample other statutory aggravating circumstances to support the weighing process in this case.

B. The Consideration of Non-Statutory Mitigating Factors

The Appellant next argues that the trial court failed to consider the non-statutory mitigating factors of employment background, remorse and willingness to accept responsibility, cooperation with law enforcement, history of drug abuse, and his family situation. A review of the record refutes the Appellant's assertions.

It is within the province of the trial court to decide whether a particular mitigating circumstance in sentencing has been proven and the weight to be given it. Daugherty v.State, 419 So.2d 1067 (Fla. 1982); Riley v.State, 413 So.2d 1173 (Fla. 1982); Smith v.State, 407 So.2d 894 (Fla. 1981); Lucas v.State, 376 So.2d 1149 (Fla. 1979). In the present case, the trial court found the only mitigating circumstance was the Appellant's lack of previous criminal history. Although the Appellant may have presented evidence of nonstatutory mitigating circumstances, the trial court clearly concluded that such proof was insufficient. As such, the trial court acted within its province and his findings should not be attacked on appeal.

The suggestion that the trial court did not consider such evidence is erroneous. The trial court explicitly stated that it was considering the evidence introduced at trial and at the penalty phase in determining the sentence to be imposed. (R.124). Furthermore, there is no indication from the record that the trial court limited its consideration of mitigating factors to only those which are statutorily enumerated. The mere fact that the trial court failed to find the mitigating factors urged by the Appellant does not mean that the trial court did not consider the evidence. Riley v. State, supra, 413 So.2d at 1175.

Some additional points need to be made, however, with regard to the particular non-statutory mitigating factors argued by the Appellant. The suggestion that the Defendant had an exemplary employment record is not supported by the trial transcript. The sole testimony relating to the Appellant's employment is that he held a job in Oklahoma for two and a half years, worked at an NCO Club at Pope Air Force Base for an undisclosed period, and accepted a job at the club on Homestead Air Force Base. Unlike McCampbell v. State, 421 So.2d 1072 (Fla. 1982), no evidence was presented to support the conclusion that the Appellant's employment was "exemplary." Such a conclusion would be suspect in light of the Appellant's firing at the Homestead NCO Club immediately prior to this incident. (R.491-492).

The trial court properly rejected the Appellant's assertion that his remorse, acceptance of responsibility, and assistance of law enforcement officials constituted mitigating circumstances. It should be remembered that the Appellant did not surrender himself after perpetration of this heinous crime, but instead returned to his residence. Although the Appellant was immediately advised that he was a suspect when confronted by law enforcement officials, he did not initially admit guilt. It was only after the Appellant was unable to explain the presence of blood on his jacket that he admitted the murder. (R.692-694; 701-704). After learning he was under investigation, the Appellant cooperated with police, accepted responsibility, and expressed remorse.

It is for precisely these reasons that <u>Washington v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 362 So.2d 658 (Fla. 1975), controls. In <u>Washington</u>, the appellant made an argument similar to the one presented to this court. Washington suggested that the trial court erred in failing to consider in mitigation the fact that he had voluntarily surrendered to authorities and confessed. This court rejected such an argument because the record demonstrated that the appellant did not surrender until he was aware that his accomplices had been apprehended and that he was also sought by the police. <u>Washington v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, 362 So.2d at 667. Once again, the argument should

fail before this court. The record clearly establishes that it was only after the investigation had focused on the Appellant that he decided to cooperate and confess. Under such circumstances, the trial court had substantial basis for declining to find these factors in mitigation.

The Appellant's final suggestion that his family situation and drug history required a finding of mitigation must also fail. Although the Appellant stated that he had a history of drug use and had consumed both marijuana and LSD the evening prior to the homicide, (R.917), he also testified that the use of narcotics had no effect on his actions when he killed the victim. (R.972-975). Indeed, the Appellant did not argue that the use somehow diminished his capacity or created an impairment of his ability to understand his actions. Whether an "excuse," justification, or "explanation," the trial court properly found it not to be a mitigating circumstance. With regard to the Appellant's personal and family situation, it should be noted that the Appellant never argued it in mitigation during the penalty The trial court heard the testimony and concluded it had insufficient weight to constitute a mitigating circumstance. By doing so, the trial court acted within its province.

C. <u>Utilization of Proper Standard to</u> Override the Jury Recommendation

The Appellant concludes the attack on his sentence by arguing that the trial court failed to utilize the proper legal standard in overriding the jury's recommendation of life imprisonment. In doing so, the Appellant isolates one sentence in the trial court's order to suggest that the trial court simply "disagreed" with the life recommendation and sentenced the Appellant to death. A review of the record reveals that the trial court properly performed its function and appropriately sentenced the Appellant to death.

Section 921.141(3), Fla.Stat., provides:

Notwithstanding the recommendation of majority of the jury, the court, after weighing the aggravating and mitigating circumstances, shall enter a sentence of life imprisonment or death...

In order to sustain a sentence of death following a jury recommendation of life, the facts suggesting a sentence of death should be so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could differ. <u>Tedder v. State</u>, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975). Implicit in overruling a jury's recommendation is the fact that the trial court "disagreed" with their verdict. The mere fact that such a statement was made

does not indicate failure to accord the jury recommendation its proper weight.⁷

It is the function and province of the trial court to determine the weight to be given particular mitigating circumstances and whether they offset the established aggravating circumstances. Herring v. State, supra, 9 FLW at 52. This court must then review the sentence to determine if the facts clearly and convincingly suggest the imposition of death. Tedder v. State, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975). In the present case, the trial court was correct to overrule the jury recommendation of life imprisonment since there was no reasonable basis for it.

The evidence produced at trial revealed that the robbery and murder had been planned two days in advance. Although the victim had always been cordial and nice to the Appellant, he tricked her into a backroom area and beat her until she was semiconscious. During the initial attack, the victim stated that she knew why he was present and that he wanted the money. This statement indicates that the

The Appellant submits that overriding the jury's recommendation is illogical and argues, absent "special circumstances," a jury override is impossible. Previous jury override cases belie. See e.g., Buford v. State, 403 So.2d 943 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1163 (1982); McCrae v. State, 395 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1980); White v. State, 403 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1981); Johnson v. State, 393 So.2d 1069 (1980); Hoy v. State, 353 So.2d 826 (Fla. 1977); Barclay v. State, 343 So.2d 1266 (Fla. 1977), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 892 (1978).

Appellant could have simply obtained her cooperation in the taking of the money. Nonetheless, the Appellant crashed a chair over the victim's head and strangled her. Although the victim was barely conscious, the Appellant stabbed the victim until the knife bent. The victim's statement asking why the Appellant was stabbing her since she was already dead indicates the horror of the Appellant's acts. Still not satisfied, the Appellant retrieved yet another larger knife to finish his task.

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